RECEIVED

Jun 20 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001469
Case No. 2020-CP-40-2839

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation and John
Crangle, individually, and on behalf of all others
similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

Richland County and Richland County Council,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Counsel for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in finding that the Respondents enjoyed public importance standing to bring their claims for declaratory and injunctive relief?
- II. Did the trial court err in finding that the Respondents presented a justiciable claim?
- III. Did the trial court err in finding that Richland County violated its own rules as well as a common law duty for legislators to cast a vote on every matter before them?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the Respondents South Carolina Public Interest Foundation ("SCPIF") and Joe E. Taylor, Jr.¹ seeking declaratory and injunctive relief related to the interpretation and enforcement of Rule 5.21 of the Richland County Council Rules.² Rule 5.21 states as follows:

5.21 Voting

Each member shall vote on each question put, except that no member shall be permitted to vote on any question in which that member has a direct personal or pecuniary interest, or in which that member perceives that he or she has a direct personal or pecuniary interest, or in which his or her participation might create an appearance of impropriety in that member's estimation. ... *If a member does not declare a vote or an abstention, his/her vote shall be recorded with the prevailing side.* If voting an abstention, a reason for the abstention must be stated and recorded in the minutes. No member shall, under any circumstances be permitted to vote after a decision has been announced by the Chair. After the decision of the question, an absent member may be permitted to record the vote she/he would have given if present, but such vote shall not affect the previous question.

See, Richland County Council Rules, 5.21. (R. 56-57). (Emphasis added). The Respondents allege that during certain County Council meetings in 2020, there were members of Council who did not declare a vote on certain questions presented to

¹ While the action was pending on appeal, Joe E. Taylor, Jr. died. The Respondent John Crangle was substituted for Mr. Taylor.

² The caption includes language suggesting that this action is brought as a class action, but the Amended Complaint includes no allegations as required under Rule 23, SCRCF. Additionally, the Respondents have not sought certification of a class action.

Council for votes without stating a reason on the record. The Respondents requested that the trial court "declare that Members of Richland County Council violated their own Rule 5.21" and that Council "failed to enforce the voting requirement of Rule 5.21." (R. 36). The Respondents also sought an injunction directing the members of Richland County Council to follow their own Rule 5.21. (R. 36). The Respondents did not seek to disqualify any votes by County Council or to overturn any legislative enactments.

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment in late August 2021, together with a Stipulation of Facts, which included County Council minutes from February 2020 through May 2020. (R. 56-59). Those cross motions were heard by former Circuit Court Judge DeAndrea Gist Benjamin on February 16, 2022. She requested proposed orders from both sides. On June 10, 2022, Judge Benjamin issued an Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment in which she issued declaratory and injunctive relief in favor of the Respondents. She also granted the Respondents standing under the public importance exception to general standing requirements. (R. 1-14).

The Appellants Richland County and Richland County Council subsequently filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend order. (R. 220-227). Judge Benjamin issued a Form Order on September 19, 2022, denying the Rule 59(e) motion. In that Form Order, Judge Benjamin writes: "this Court found that the case

concerned the substantive common law duty of Council members to vote and ordered only that County Council follow their own rules as written and their common law duty to vote.” (R. 15).

The Appellants subsequently filed a timely appeal to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties agreed to and filed a Stipulation of Facts which includes as exhibits minutes for certain Richland County Council meetings from February 2020 through May 2020, at which there were non-declared votes being challenged by the Respondents. The Stipulation of Facts are as follows:³

1. Plaintiff South Carolina Public Interest Foundation is a not for profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina.
2. Plaintiff Joe E. Taylor, Jr. is a citizen, resident, taxpayer, and registered elector of Richland County.
3. Defendant Richland County, South Carolina is a County in South Carolina.
4. Defendant Richland County Council is the governing body of Richland County.
5. The Council Rules of Richland County state as follows:

5.21 Voting

Each member shall vote on each question put, except that no member shall be permitted to vote on any question in which that member has a direct personal or pecuniary interest, or in which that member perceives that he or she has a direct personal or pecuniary interest, or in which his or her participation might create an appearance of impropriety in that member's estimation. ... If a member does not declare a vote or an abstention, his/her vote shall be recorded with the prevailing side. If voting an abstention, a reason for the abstention must be stated and recorded in the minutes. No

³ The factual information was current at the time of trial. The membership of County Council has now changed.

member shall, under any circumstances be permitted to vote after a decision has been announced by the Chair. After the decision of the question, an absent member may be permitted to record the vote she/he would have given if present, but such vote shall not affect the previous question.

6. The County Council voting system has three options on a touchscreen at each Council member's desk: yes, no, and abstain.
7. In the February 11, 2020 Special Called Meeting, there were fourteen questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on five of the questions. On four other occasions Council Members did not declare a vote without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
8. In the February 25, 2020 Zoning Public Hearing, there were seven questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on six of the questions without stating a reason. Five other times Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
9. In the March 3, 2020 Regular Session Meeting, there were 35 questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on 24 of the questions without stating a reason on the record. On four other occasions, Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
10. In the March 17, 2020 Regular Session Meeting, there were 14 questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on seven of the questions without stating a reason. Other Council members did not declare a vote five times without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
11. In the March 31, 2020 Special Called Meeting, there were 15 questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on eleven of the questions without stating a reason. On six other occasions, Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.

12. In the April 7, 2020 Regular Session Meeting, there were 33 questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on 17 of the questions. Council Member Gwendolyn Kennedy is recorded in the minutes as present, but she did not declare a vote on 32 of the questions without stating a reason. Other Council members did not declare a vote twice without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
13. In the April 21, 2020 Regular Session Meeting, there were 29 questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on six of the questions without stating a reason. On nine occasions other Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
14. In the May 5, 2020 Regular Session Meeting, there were 31 questions presented to County Council for votes. Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote on 20 of the questions without stating a reason. On 22 other occasions various council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
15. At the May 19, 2020 Regular Session Meeting, 12 questions were presented to the County Council members for a vote. On ten of these questions, Councilman Jim Manning did not declare a vote without stating a reason on the record. On seven of the questions Gwendolyn Kennedy did not declare a vote. A true and accurate copy of the minutes for this meeting is attached hereto.
16. The current members of Richland County Council are Paul Livingston (Chair), Bill Malinowski, Derrek Pugh, Yvonne McBride, Allison Terracio, Joe Walker, III, Gretchen Barron, Overture Walker, Jesica Mackey, Cheryl D. English, and Chakisse Newton.

(R. 56-59).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court “may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law.” *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are “free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder.” *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court erred in finding that the Respondents enjoyed public importance standing to bring their claims for declaratory and injunctive relief.

The trial court erred in finding that the Respondents enjoyed public importance standing to bring their claims for declaratory and injunctive relief. It is well settled that "[s]tanding to sue is a fundamental requirement in instituting an action." *Bodman v. State of South Carolina*, 403 S.C. 60, 742 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2013). Under South Carolina law, "[s]tanding may be acquired: (1) by statute; (2) through the rubric of 'constitutional standing'; or (3) under the 'public importance' exception." *ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston County*, 380 S.C. 191, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008). In this case, where there is no basis for statutory standing, the Respondents were required to show a right to sue through taxpayer standing or by the "public importance" exception to the general standing requirements. The trial court correctly concluded that the Respondents have not demonstrated taxpayer standing. However, the trial court should have also rejected the claim of public importance standing, but it did not do so.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized a "public importance" exception to general standing requirements -- a rule that the Supreme Court has acknowledged "has been the subject of much confusion and misapplication."

Bodman, 742 S.E.2d at 366. The Supreme Court has explained that "standing is not inflexible." *Id.* Thus, "standing may be conferred upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance." *Id.* The Supreme Court, however, has "tempered the application of the public importance exception somewhat," and in doing so, the Court has "reminded the bench and bar that 'whether an issue of public importance exists necessitates a cautious balancing of the competing interests presented.'" *Bodman*, 742 S.E.2d at 367, citing *ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston County*, 380 S.C. 191, 669 S.E.2d 337, 341 (2008). In *Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Association*, 407 S.C. 67, 753 S.E.2d 846 (2014), the Supreme Court addressed the "competing policy concerns" that underlie the application of the public importance exception as follows:

Citizens must be afforded access to the judicial process to address alleged injustices. On the other hand, standing cannot be granted to every individual who has a grievance against a public official. Otherwise, public officials would be subject to numerous lawsuits at the expense of both judicial economy and the freedom from frivolous lawsuits.

753 S.E.2d at 853.

The Supreme Court has explained that the "key to the public importance analysis is whether a resolution is needed for future guidance." *Id.* This need for future guidance "resists a formulaic approach, as each case must turn" on its own

peculiarities. *Id.* Most recently, in *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Wilson*, 437 S.C. 334, 878 S.E.2d 891 (2022), the Supreme Court reiterated that “[c]ourts must cautiously balance competing interests -- the citizenry’s need to hold public officials accountable for alleged injustices and ‘the concomitant integrity of government action’ -- to determine whether the issue presented is inextricably connected to the public need for court resolution for future guidance.” 878 S.2d at 895. As the Supreme Court noted, “the linchpin of our analysis is whether a need for future guidance exists.” *Id.*

In the case at bar, the trial court did not focus on that “linchpin.” In fact, the trial court disregarded the question. The court never addressed with specificity (or for that matter generally) whether there was a need for *future guidance*. The trial court instead cited a host of pre-*Bodman* cases where public importance standing was allowed, in the trial court’s words, “to address issues of whether public bodies are operating within the bounds of the law in making decisions that affect their constituencies.” (R. 5). The trial court then ruled in a conclusory manner that this case fit that bill because questions arose whether County Council “followed its own rules” and “violated the common law,” the latter of which is a reference to the flawed notion of a common law duty for legislators to cast a vote on every matter before him or her. (R. 6). Critically, however, the trial court never addressed whether there exists a need for *future guidance*.

As the record bears out, the Respondents never made a showing of any need for judicial intervention to provide "future guidance." In fact, the Respondents focused their claims primarily on the voting tendencies of Councilman Jim Manning, who is the only Council member actually identified by name in the Stipulation of Facts. The Amended Complaint mentions only Councilman Manning and Councilwoman Gwen Kennedy by name. (R. 34-36). However, neither Manning nor Kennedy were still on County Council at the time of trial or the entry of judgment, and hence, "future guidance" is not required as to those Council members. *See*, Stipulation of Facts, ¶ 16 (naming current members of County Council at the time of trial). (R. 59).

Most importantly, the Respondents did not meet their burden of showing that a cautious balancing of the competing interests supports the use of the "public importance" exception in this case. *See, Joseph v. South Carolina Dept. of Labor, Licensing and Regulation*, 417 S.C. 436, 790 S.E.2d 763, 770 (2016) ("[a] party seeking to establish standing carries the burden of demonstrating each element"). As discussed below, the balancing of competing interests in this case weighs heavily against the Respondents having public importance standing. The Respondents are seeking an adjudication of a non-justiciable political question and relief that will violate the separation of powers doctrine. That does not serve the

very limited purposes envisioned by the Supreme Court when it adopted the "public importance" exception. For each of these reasons, the trial court erred in bestowing public importance standing on the Respondents.

II. The trial court erred in finding that the Respondents presented a justiciable claim.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has explained that "it is fundamental that the Declaratory Judgments Act does not eliminate the case-or-controversy requirement." *Tourism Expenditure Review Committee v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 403 S.C. 76, 742 S.E.2d 371, 374 (2013). "To fall within the intended purpose and scope of the Declaratory Judgment Act, the parties must seek adjudication of a justiciable controversy." 742 S.E.2d at 373-374.

In addition to lacking standing to bring this lawsuit, the Respondents also alleged only a non-justiciable issue -- a political question -- over which the courts lack any authority or jurisdiction to render judgment or grant relief. As the Supreme Court has recognized, "[t]he nonjusticiability of a political question is primarily a function of the separation of powers." *Alexander v. Houston*, 403 S.C. 615, 744 S.E.2d 517, 519 (2013). "The fundamental characteristic of a nonjusticiable 'political question' is that its adjudication would place a court in conflict with a coequal branch of government." *Id.* In *Alexander*, the Supreme Court explained that courts are "duty bound to review the actions of the Legislature

when it is alleged in a properly filed suit that such actions are unconstitutional." 744 S.E.2d at 519-520. Yet, the present case does not raise any constitutional question.

In 1972, Article VIII of the South Carolina Constitution "was completely revised for the purpose of accomplishing home rule, thus granting renewed autonomy to local government." *Williams v. Town of Hilton Head Island*, 311 S.C. 417, 429 S.E.2d 802, 803-804 (1993). Article VIII, § 7 of the Constitution provides:

The General Assembly shall provide by general law for the structure, organization, powers, duties, functions, and the responsibilities of counties, including the power to tax different areas at different rates of taxation related to the nature and level of governmental services provided.

S.C. Const., art VIII, § 7. Moreover, Article VIII, § 17 provides:

The provisions of this Constitution and all laws concerning local government shall be liberally construed in their favor. Powers, duties, and responsibilities granted local government subdivisions by this Constitution and by law shall include those fairly implied and not prohibited by this Constitution.

S.C. Const., art VIII, § 17. In accordance with the Home Rule Amendments, the General Assembly adopted the Home Rule Act. As part thereof, S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-25 provides: "[t]he powers of a county must be liberally construed in favor of the county and the specific mention of particular powers may not be construed as limiting in any manner the general powers of counties." S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-25

Importantly, S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-110 provides that "[t]he Council shall determine its own rules and order of business." S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-110.

In this litigation, the Respondents have requested the judiciary to order a legislative body to "enforce" its own rules based on the court's interpretation of those rules. Such judicial action, however, is clearly violative of the separation of powers doctrine. *See*, S.C. Const., art. I, § 8 ("In the government of this State, the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other"). In fact, it is well settled that the failure of a legislative body to follow its parliamentary rules is not subject to judicial review. As stated in *American Jurisprudence*:

The courts generally do not concern themselves with violations of parliamentary rules in deliberative proceedings, whether such rules are codified in the form of a manual and formally adopted or whether they consist of a body of unwritten customs or usages, preserved in memory and by tradition. *Since parliamentary rules are merely procedural and not substantive, the courts have no concern with their observance. Hence, they may be waived or disregarded by the legislative body.* The courts will not annul an act of a legislature, or an ordinance of a municipal council, merely because one or the other was enacted in disregard of the rules that the legislature or the municipal council, or either house thereof, had prescribed for its own government, and unless they have proceeded in violation of the law of the land, or of the charter of the municipality, which is their

organic law, the courts have no power to superintend their proceedings or annul their acts.

59 Am. Jur. 2d *Parliamentary Law*, § 5. (Emphasis added).

Our Supreme Court has applied these very principles. In *McSherry v. Spartanburg County Council*, 371 S.C. 586, 641 S.E.2d 431 (2007), the Supreme Court cited Home Rule and concluded that "there is neither a constitutional provision nor a statutory requirement on which this Court could base an invalidation of Council's rules and procedures." 641 S.E.2d at 434. The Supreme Court further noted that "in reviewing the discretionary decision of a legislative body, our courts have been loath to substitute their judgment for that of elected representatives." 641 S.E.2d at 433. As discussed in more detail below, the South Carolina Attorney General is also in accord.

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