RECEIVED

Jun 14 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001469

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation and John Crangle.,
Individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Respondents,

v.

Richland County and Richland County Council, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

James G. Carpenter
THE CARPENTER LAW FIRM, PC
819 E. North Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 235-1269
Attorney for Respondents
S.C. Bar No. 1136

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

When County Council members repeatedly failed to vote on issues presented to them, as required, and failed to state a reason for their non-votes, as required:

- I. Does the repeated violation state an issue of great public importance?
- II. Does the repeated violation state a justiciable controversy?
- III. Did Council members violate Council Rule 5.21?
- IV. Did Council members violate their common law duty?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents accept the Appellants' Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondents accept the Appellants' Statement of the Facts.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondents accept the Appellants' Statement of the Standard of Review.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED PLAINTIFFS PUBLIC IMPORTANCE STANDING.

Defendants contend Plaintiffs lack standing. The Circuit Court properly granted Plaintiffs public importance standing to enable the Court to address an issue of great public importance: Defendants' failure to comply with the Council Rules, the common law, and the policies enacted in South Carolina statutes. Our Supreme Court recently ruled:

This Court has consistently acknowledged that even without an allegation of particularized injury, "standing may be conferred upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance." *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431, 434, 593 S.E.2d 470, 472 (2004); *see S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 645, 744 S.E.2d 521, 524 (2013); *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 199, 669 S.E.2d 337, 341 (2008); *Baird v. Charleston Cnty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 531, 511 S.E.2d 69, 75 (1999); *Davis v. Richland Cnty. Council*, 372 S.C. 497, 500, 642 S.E.2d 740, 741-42 (2007); *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Dep't. of Transp. (SCDOT)*, 421 S.C. 110, 118-19, 804 S.E.2d 854, 859 (2017).

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Wilson, 437 S.C. 334, 341, 878 S.E.2d 891, 895 (2022). The Court in *Wilson* continued.

By claiming *Wilson* improperly disbursed state settlement funds, Appellants indisputably allege an issue of public importance. *See, e.g., SCDOT*, 421 S.C. at 119, 804 S.E.2d at 859; *Sloan v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cnty.*, 342 S.C. 515, 524, 537 S.E.2d 299, 303 (Ct. App. 2000). Therefore, the linchpin of our analysis is whether a need for future guidance exists.

Id., 437 S.C. 334, 342, 878 S.E.2d 891, 895 (2022).

A judicial ruling on the issues in this case is necessary for future guidance. The research of the Respondents has disclosed no South Carolina case addressing the duty of members of city or county counsel to vote on each matter presented to them, as stated in Council's own rules, in the common law, and in the policies articulated in State statutes. Accordingly, this issue "transcends a purely private matter and rise[s] to the level of public importance." *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 199, 669 S.E.2d 337, 341 (2008). A decision on this matter is

necessary “for future guidance.” *Wilson*, 437 S.C. 334, 341, 878 S.E.2d 891, 895 (2022). The Circuit Court properly granted public interest standing to address these issues of great public importance.

The county contends that the two Council members who most often refused to vote on the issues without stating a reason are no longer on County Council. Accordingly, Council contends that this issue is no longer of any public importance. However, a careful review of the stipulated facts demonstrates that the violation is not limited to two persons. Nearly all of the members of the Richland County Council have engaged in this practice of failing to vote without articulating a reason for the non-vote or abstention.

Paragraph 7 of the Statement of Facts states that on February 11, 2020, in addition to Councilman Manning’s non-votes, “On four other occasions Council Members did not declare a vote without stating a reason” (R. p. 57).

Paragraph 8 of the Statement of Facts states that on February 25, 2020, not including Councilman Manning, “Five other times Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason” (R. p. 57).

Paragraph 9 of the Statement of Facts states that on March 3, 2020, other than Councilman Manning, “On four other occasions, Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason” (R. p. 57).

Paragraph 10 of the Statement of Facts states that on March 17, 2020, not counting Councilman Manning, “Other Council members did not declare a vote five times without stating a reason” (R. p. 57).

Paragraph 11 of the Statement of Facts states that on March 31, 2020, not counting Councilman Manning, “On six other occasions, Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason” (R. p. 58).

Paragraph 12 of the Statement of Facts states that on April 7, 2020, not counting Council members Manning or Kennedy, “Other Council members did not declare a vote twice without stating a reason” (R. p. 58).

Paragraph 13 of the Statement of Facts states that on April 21, 2020, not counting Councilman Manning, “On nine occasions other Council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason” (R. p. 58).

Paragraph 14 of the Statement of Facts states that on the May 5, 2020 meeting, not counting Councilman Manning, “On 22 other occasions various council members did not declare a vote without stating a reason” (R. p. 58).

The Statement of Facts covers only four months, from February to May, 2020. Nevertheless, the Statement of Facts demonstrates that this practice of not voting, and not stating a reason for the non-vote is not limited to the council members who are no longer on Council; it is pervasive among all the Council members. Accordingly, “this issue will inevitably arise again in the future.” *Wilson*, 437 S.C. 334, 342, 878 S.E.2d 891, 895 (2022).

The Courts of this State have granted plaintiffs public importance standing many times to enable the Court to address issues of great public importance: *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 421 S.C. 110, 804 S.E.2d 854 (2017) (one subject rule); *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Lucas*, 416 S.C. 269, 786 S.E.2d 124 (2016) (one subject rule); *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. South Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 744 S.E.2d 521 (2013) (composition

of infrastructure bank board), *American Petroleum Institute v. S.C. Dep't. of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 572, 677 S.E.2d 16 (2009) (one subject rule), *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Harrell*, 378 S.C. 441, 663 S.E.2d 52 (2008) (one subject rule), *Sloan v. Department of Transportation*, 379 S.C. 160, 666 S.E.2d 236 (2008) (violation of procurement statute), *Sloan v. Hardee*, 357 S.C. 495, 640 S.E.2d 457 (2007) (violation of statute regarding appointment of commissioners); *Cornelius v Oconee County*, 369 S.C. 531, 633 S.E.2d 492 (2006) (violation of referendum on sewer funding); *Sloan v. Department of Transportation*, 365 S.C. 299, 618 S.E.2d 876 (2005) (violation of procurement laws), *Sloan v. Wilkins*, 362 S.C. 430, 608 S.E.2d 579 (2005) (one subject rule); *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431, 593 S.E.2d 470 (2004) (Governor having a commission from another power); *Sloan v. Greenville County*, 356 S.C. 531, 590 S.E.2d 338 (Ct. App. 2003) (violation of procurement ordinance), *Sloan v. School District of Greenville County*, 342 S.C. 515, 537 S.E.2d 299 (Ct. App. 2000) (violation of procurement policy), *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999) (issuance of tax exempt bonds), *Newman v. Richland County Historic Preservation Commission*, 325 S.C. 79, 480 S.E.2d 72 (1997) (Commission's transfer of ownership of historic homes).

This action raises issues of great public importance including whether the members of Richland County Council follow their own council rules, their common law duties, and the policies in the State statutes. Accordingly, the Circuit Court properly granted Plaintiffs public importance standing based upon the great public importance of the legal issues this action raises.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT PLAINTIFFS STATED A JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY.

The Circuit Court properly found that the Plaintiffs had raised a justiciable controversy.

The Circuit Court reasoned as follows:

Plaintiffs have not simply alleged that Richland County Council have failed to properly follow their own rules but specifically rules designed to address, in some part, “**direct personal or pecuniary interest[s]** . . . [and the] **appearance of impropriety.**” Richland County Council Rules, 5.21. Plaintiffs allege that **Council members violated the common law duties** by failing to vote or abstaining from a vote without stating a reason on the record, **allowing potential conflicts to go unaddressed** and creating a situation where Council members with conflicts on a matter can choose not to vote and still have their vote counted with the prevailing side. The courts of this State have granted public importance standing many times to address issues of **whether public bodies are operating within the bounds of the law** and making decisions that affect their constituencies.

(R. p. 5) (*emphasis added*).

In addition, the Court reasoned,

Plaintiffs are not “contest[ing] the broad powers granted to counties by the Legislature” nor are they seeking to force their own interpretation of Council Rule 5.21. *Alexander v. Houston*, 403 S.C. 615, 619, 744 S.E.2d 517, 520 (2013). Rather, **Plaintiffs want County Council to enforce its own rules as written.** The Stipulation of Facts submitted by both parties makes it clear that on many occasions, **Council members either failed to vote or voted an abstention without placing a reason on the record.** *See generally*, Stipulation of Facts. The text of Council Rule 5.21 instructs that “[**e**]**ach member shall vote** on each question put . . . ,” and facts demonstrate that **several members did not do so.** *See* Richland County Council Rules, 5.21. Further, Council Rule 5.21 instructs that “[i]f voting an abstention, **a reason for the abstention must be stated and recorded in the minutes,**” and Council members frequently either did not offer a reason, or the Clerk did not record one in the Minutes. *Id.*

(R. p. 7) (*emphasis added*). The Circuit Court concluded, “Here, the Court is ordering that Defendants follow their own rules as written and follow their common law duty.”

Accordingly, the Circuit Court properly found that the Plaintiffs had raised a justiciable controversy.

III. COUNCIL MEMBERS VIOLATED COUNCIL RULE 5.21.

The Council Rules for Richland County § 5.21 Voting states the following.

Each member shall vote on each question put, except that no member shall be permitted to vote on any question in which that member has a direct personal or pecuniary interest, or in which that member perceives that he or she has a direct personal or pecuniary interest, or in which his or her participation might create an

appearance of impropriety in that member's estimation. . . . **If a member does not declare a vote or an abstention, his/her vote shall be recorded with the prevailing side. If voting an abstention, a reason for the abstention must be stated and recorded in the minutes.**

(R. p. 11) (*emphasis added*).

As demonstrated in the Minutes of County Council in the Stipulation of Facts, 207 times from February through May, 2020, members of the Richland County Council violated Council Rule 5.21 by failing to vote on issues raised without stating a reason. (R. pp. 57-59)

Furthermore, Council has failed to require a non-voting member to state a reason for the failure to vote. (R. p. 94). Council has failed to record the reasons for each failure to vote in the County Council minutes, and Council has failed to record the non-vote as a vote for the prevailing side. These failures are unlawful. The Circuit Court properly issued declaratory judgment and injunctive relief compelling compliance with the law and rules.

IV. COUNCIL MEMBERS VIOLATED THE COMMON LAW.

On March 17, 2020, Council discussed the members' failing to vote on matters presented to them. The Council voted to "request those Council members abstaining provide the reason for abstaining to the Clerk's Office by the close of business this week." (R. p. 94). Defendants thereby acknowledged the duty of Council Members to vote on each question presented or provide a reason for the abstention. However, the minutes of subsequent meetings demonstrate that Council took no action regarding the failures to vote, and failures to state a reason.

County Council's duty to vote on issues presented to them also arises from the common law.

But the courts have steadfastly adhered to the rule that when members are present at a meeting, a mere refusal to vote on the part of some of the members cannot defeat the action of the majority of those actually voting. **As long as the members are present in the council chamber and have an opportunity to act and vote**

with the others, it is their duty to act, and they will be regarded as present for the purpose of making a quorum and rendering legal the action of the council.

Gaskin v. Jones, 198 S.C. 508, 18 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1942) (quoting Dillon on Municipal Corporations, 5th Edition, Section 527) (emphasis added). See also, *State ex rel. Walden v. Vanosdal*, 131 Ind. 388, 31 N.E. 79, 15 L.R.A. 832. (“Being present, **it was their duty to act.**”) *Id.*, quoted in *Gaskin v. Jones*, 198 S.C. 508, 18 S.E.2d 454, 457 (1942) (emphasis added),

Other courts have held similarly.

If a quorum is present, **municipal legislators cannot avoid their voting responsibilities by refusing to vote when present at a meeting.** (See *Launtz v. People ex rel. Sullivan* (1885), 113 Ill. 137; see also *People ex rel. Anderson v. Chicago & North Western Ry. Co.* (1947), 396 Ill. 466, 71 N.E.2d 701.) **A legal significance or effect must be given to each failure to vote** by a municipal legislator who is present at a board meeting in order to prevent frustration or abuse of the legislative process. (*State ex rel. Young v. Yates* (1897), 19 Mont. 239, 47 P. 1004.) **He should not be allowed** to have his physical presence counted toward the constitution of a quorum and at the same time be allowed **to deny, in effect, his official presence by a failure to vote.** Thus, a municipal legislator’s failure to vote either “yea” or “nay” on a proposed ordinance must be interpreted to have the same effect as either a “yea” or a “nay” vote.

Prosser v. Village of Fox Lake, 91 Ill.2d 389, 397-98, 438 N.E.2d 134, 135-136, 63 Ill.Dec. 396 (1982) (emphasis added).

The policies behind this rule are sound and necessary. By requiring that the nonvoter’s vote be recorded with the prevailing side, the rule motivates Council members to either vote or articulate a reason for their abstention.

If the member has a conflict of interest, but if he fails to disclose it and simply fails to vote, his vote is recorded with the prevailing side. His conflict of interest remains, but it is undisclosed. That creates an ethical issue for the Council member.

If a member has a conflict of interest requiring an abstention, and he offers an explanation or reason, that vote does not count for either side. The problem arises when a member fails to vote and fails to explain his non-vote. When he fails to articulate a reason, when there is a real conflict,

the non-vote should be counted with the prevailing side, which is improper when there is a conflict of interest.

This policy is widely recognized, as stated in McQuillin on Municipal Corporations:

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